## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL ANTHONY BROWN,	)	
	)	
Appellant,	)	
	)	
VS.	)	CASE NO. 89,537
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	
	)	

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

J. PEYTON QUARLES Florida Bar No. 0209481 501 North Grandview Avenue Suite 115 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 255-4020

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# **

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The record on appeal consists of thirteen volumes, 1,676 pages consisting of various pretrial motions, Appellant's murder trial by jury commencing October 19, 1996, subsequent post- trial hearings, and proceedings on the underlying felonies. Appellant will refer to this portion of the record using the symbol (T). The portion of the record containing the pleadings consists of one volume and 141 pages. Appellant will refer to this portion of the record using the symbol (R). The record also contains a supplemental record (one volume, ten pages), which will be referred to using the symbol (SR).

Counsel will refer to Paul Anthony Brown as "Appellant", "Brown", or "Paul". Appellant will refer to the State of Florida as the "State" or the "prosecution".

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 6, 1993, the Fall Term Grand Jury in and for Volusia County, Florida returned an indictment charging Paul Anthony Brown with first-degree murder. (R4) The indictment alleged that Appellant and a co-defendant, Scott Jason McGuire, murdered Roger Hensley on November 5, 1992. On July 31, 1996, Appellant was transported to Volusia County from the federal penitentiary at Allenwood, Pennsylvania. (R5) At the first appearance held on that date, the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent Appellant. That office filed a motion to withdraw and as grounds cited the prior representation of the codefendant and Appellant's desire to dispose of the murder charge pursuant to a demand under the Interstate Agreement on Detainers. (R6-7) Counsel from outside of the Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent Appellant on August 5, 1996. (R9)

Appellant filed a motion to suppress certain statements he made to members of the Federal Bureau of Investigation after his arrest on November 9, 1992. (R40) At a hearing held on October 10, 1996, the trial court denied the motion, finding that the statements were voluntary. (T88-90, 93, 97) Other pre-trial motions were filed by the Appellant. Only some of these are pertinent to this appeal and will be addressed individually in the argument portion of the brief.

On October 14, 1996, the case was tried by a jury before the Honorable R. Michael Hutcheson, Circuit Judge. (T157-1317) The jury returned a verdict of guilty of First Degree Premeditated Murder and First Degree Felony Murder on October 18, 1996. (R77; T1310)

The case proceeded to a penalty phase on October 23, 1996. (T1318) During these proceedings the State presented testimony of a brother and a sister of Mr. Hensley's. (T1360,1364) Appellant called his uncle and his grandmother as witnesses. (T1373,1375)

Appellant objected to the instruction on heinous, atrocious, and cruel and the instruction on cold, calculated, and premeditated. (T1391) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation of death by a vote of 12-0. (R83; T1448)

The trial court sentenced Paul Anthony Brown to die by electrocution. (R116) The court filed findings of fact in support of the imposition of the death penalty. The trial court found four aggravating circumstances: (1) prior violent felony conviction; (2) felony murder merged with pecuniary gain; (3) especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; (4) heightened premeditation. (R108-112)

On October 8, 1996, the State of Florida filed an information in this matter charging Appellant with the additional offenses of Armed Robbery with a Deadly Weapon and Armed Burglary. (R49) The next day, the prosecution filed a motion to consolidate the new charges with the offense of First Degree Murder alleged in the indictment. (R51) The trial court orally denied the State's motion to consolidate at a hearing held on October 10, 1996. (T135) Subsequent to the completion of the trial on first-degree murder, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss the new charges alleging a double jeopardy bar. (R117) After the court denied the motion to dismiss, Appellant entered a plea of no contest to both the robbery and the burglary charges, reserving his right to appeal the trial court's ruling on the motion to dismiss. (T1659, 1661) He was sentenced to two terms of 17 years as a habitual offender in the State of Florida Department of Corrections. The sentences were to be concurrent with each other and concurrent to the sentence of death previously imposed. (R 121-131; T1673)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 9, 1996. This brief follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In November of 1992, Roger Hensley was a cement finisher and mechanic employed by Gemstone Concrete Coatings, a company based in Largo, Florida. He was assigned to do a job in Ormond Beach, Florida, resurfacing walkways at a timeshare resort known as Plantation Island. While he was performing that task, he also resided at the resort in room # 223. (T702-704) On the evening of November 5, 1992, Mr. Hensley encountered Appellant and Scott McGuire outside of a bar in the Main Street area of Daytona Beach, Florida. (T859, 1117) The trio drove around in Hensley's white Nissan truck for a short while then proceeded to Mr. Hensley's temporary residence at the Plantation Island. (T862, 1117) After arriving at Hensley's residence, the three drank beer, smoked marijuana, and discussed the possibility of Appellant and Mr. McGuire working for Mr. Hensley. There was also some discussion of each other's sexual orientation. (T864, 1119)

The following morning at approximately 10:00, Mr. Hensley's body was discovered on the floor of the unit's bedroom. (T659) Officer James Gogarty and Detective Henry Ostercamp of the Ormond Beach Police Department responded to the scene of the homicide. (T676, 800) They were joined at the scene by Steve Miller and Leroy Parker of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. Two knives were found in the apartment. A knife located in the open area of the living room appeared to be clean. The second knife, which had a red substance on it was discovered underneath a cushion on the couch located in the same area. (T803, 809-810) A green leafy substance in a plastic baggy, several Budweiser beer bottles, and a drinking glass were also located in the living room area of room 223. (T686, 1002) The employees of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement photographed bloody shoe prints, took photographs of blood spatters, and collected fingerprints from the crime scene. (T997, 1022)

After leaving Plantation Island in the early morning hours of November 5, Appellant and McGuire departed the Daytona Beach area and headed north. (T875, 124) They stopped at a Texaco convenience store in Morrow, Georgia and put approximately \$11.00 of gas in Hensley's truck. Appellant went into the store and told Audrey Hudson, the clerk, that they did not have the money to pay for the gas, but would return shortly with the money. (T708) Appellant left McGuire's Florida identification card with the clerk. Ms. Hudson then called the local police department. When David A. Erickson of the City of Morrow Police Department arrived, Hudson turned McGuire's identification over to the officer. (T713)

McGuire and Appellant continued their northerly trek until they reached Macon County, Tennessee. McGuire left the area the next day and had no further contact with Appellant until the trial of this matter. (T877, 1126) Within the next day or two, Appellant was arrested on unrelated charges by Tennessee law enforcement authorities and agents of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. In the area of Appellant's arrest, a white Nissan truck and a wage statement of Roger Hensley were located. (T742) The FBI contacted Gemstone Concrete and were informed that the truck had been in the Hensley's possession prior to his murder in Daytona Beach, Florida. (T746)

While in the custody of the FBI agents, Appellant informed the agents that he and an individual named "Scott" had killed a white male in Daytona Beach. (T758-763,790-793) Mr. Brown told the agents that in October of 1992, he had traveled to Daytona Beach from Murfreesboro, Tennessee. He had met "Scott" and they had stayed together for a couple of weeks at motel in the Daytona area. Brown and Scott discussed Brown's desire to leave Daytona Beach. Brown's problem was a lack of transportation. Additionally, Brown had no valid proof of identification. Scott suggested that they go to a gay bar, meet someone and kill him

for his vehicle. Pursuant to this plan, the duo located a man who drove them in his white truck to his "expensive" motel room. After smoking some "crack" cocaine, the man went into his bedroom and laid down. At Scott's insistence, he and Appellant each got a knife out of the kitchen and walked into the man's bedroom. The man then asked Brown to lay down with him and "do some things". Brown declined and then stabbed the man two or three times in the chest and once in the back. When the man rolled onto the floor, Scott reached down and slit his throat. Brown noticed that Scott tried to wipe his fingerprints off of the knives and other items in the motel room. After Appellant removed \$20.00 from the dead man's wallet, they found the keys to the truck and left town heading north. (T759-763)

Brown further related that they stopped near Atlanta at a Texaco station and put gas in the truck. They did not pay for the gas but Appellant left Scott's Florida identification card as a show of good faith. After arriving at a farmhouse in Lafayette, Tennessee, the two had an argument and Scott left the morning of November 7. Brown gave the FBI a description of Scott. (T764-766) He also stated that he thought Scott's last name began with an "M". (T759)

Mr. Brown initialed and signed a statement prepared by an FBI agent which summarized the account he gave at the time of his arrest. Some personal items, including a pair of basketball shoes were taken from Brown when he was arrested. (T751) At the time the shoes were seized, Mr. Brown stated that he had worn the shoes for a "long time". (T793)

In January of 1993, Agent Miller and Detective Osterkamp located Scott Jason McGuire at the Volusia County Branch Jail. (T822) Initially, McGuire told the officers that he had never gone to a motel room where someone was killed. After being "scared" by the interrogating officers, McGuire gave a different account of the first week of November, 1992. (T878) In return, Mr. McGuire was allowed to enter a plea to the reduced charge of second-degree murder,

was sentenced to a term of forty years in the State of Florida Department of Corrections, and agreed to testify at Appellant's trial. (T879)

According to McGuire, he and Appellant became acquainted sometime in October of 1992. During the time they spent together in the Daytona Beach area, the two consumed large amounts of alcohol and did "crack" cocaine on a daily basis. (T856, 884) At sometime during this friendship, Brown purchased McGuire's Florida identification card from McGuire. (T874) They had discussions about Appellant returning to Tennessee, including Appellant's offer to pay McGuire \$1,000.00 to drive him there. (T857-8) On November 4th or 5th, McGuire and Brown were walking around the Main Street section of Daytona "looking for a car". (T858) Appellant motioned McGuire over to a white pick-up truck, where he was talking to another man. An invitation was extended to go to this man's apartment to drink some beer. (T860)

After arriving at the apartment, the group drank beer, smoked marijuana, and discussed possible employment. The man informed McGuire and Brown that he was homosexual. They in turn responded that they were bisexual. The individual invited Brown to sleep with him and walked into the bedroom. Brown then signaled McGuire to the unit's balcony. He told McGuire that he was going to shoot the man and steal his truck. McGuire disapproved, stating that the gun would make too much noise and besides, he just wanted to leave. (T865-6) When they returned to the living room, Brown went into the kitchen and came out carrying two knives. He tried to hand one to McGuire who threw it to the floor. Brown indicated that he would handle things and proceeded into the bedroom. McGuire heard what he discerned to be stabbing sounds and something to the effect of "no". (T868-9) He looked into the bedroom and saw the man's bloodied body on the floor. Brown found the keys to the truck and a \$20.00 bill before the two left town in the truck. McGuire tried to wipe all of his fingerprints off any items in the

apartment before leaving. (T870-71)

Appellant's trial testimony provided a somewhat different version of the events leading to the death of Roger Hensley. Mr. Brown came to Daytona Beach in the fall of 1992 for a vacation. He and Mr. McGuire became friends and spent most of their time drinking, doing "crack" cocaine, and going to strip clubs. (T1112, 1115) On the day they met Roger Hensley, they had gone to get McGuire's van at the house of a friend of McGuire. After they were told that the van had been towed away, they picked up some beer and whiskey McGuire had left at the house and departed. From there they took a bus to the Main Street area. Mr. McGuire struck up a conversation with an individual who was offering him a job. All three then proceeded to this man's motel room. (T1116-1117) Appellant was very intoxicated and went to sleep on the couch in the living room. He was awakened by McGuire shaking Brown's arm. McGuire was standing next to the couch with a blood-covered knife in his hand. Brown got up and walked into the adjacent room where he saw that McGuire had stabbed the man in the back. (T1120-1121) McGuire then lifted the man by his hair and tried to cut his throat.

Brown left the room and was walking down the sidewalk away from the motel when McGuire pulled alongside and told Brown to get into the truck. As they drove out of town, McGuire told Appellant that if Appellant ever told anyone what had happened at the motel room, McGuire would frame Brown for the murder. (T1123-4)

On the trip north, they stopped at a gas station and McGuire filled the truck with gas.

Appellant went inside and threw McGuire's Florida identification card at the attendant. (T1125)

The two drove away without paying and continued north until they reached Macon County,

Tennessee. When they reached Tennessee they met an uncle of Appellant. That night they went into Nashville and did cocaine and drank beer. (T1125-1126) Appellant and McGuire split up

within the next day or two.

Mr. Brown testified that he did not make the statements attributed to him by the FBI agents who arrested him. (T1131) He stated that the initials on the statements prepared by the FBI are his initials but he did not remember putting them on the statement. (T1134)

#### **PENALTY PHASE**

Paul Brown's mother, Peggy Lee Brown, was not married when Appellant was born. Mr. Brown's father refused to marry Ms. Brown so her son lived initially with his maternal grandmother, Ora Lee Moore. Because she did not feel that her daughter could raise Appellant, Mrs. Moore tried to convince her daughter to allow her to adopt him. (T1376) Though unsuccessful in this effort, she tried to keep Appellant at her home, hoping to provide some stability for the child during his formative stages. Throughout his childhood, Paul lived alternately with his grandmother or the man with whom Brown's mother was cohabiting at the time.

Despite the frequent changes in residence, Brown was well behaved as a child and considered to be a "pretty nice kid" by his uncle, Donald Terrill Brown. (T1374) However, both Donald Brown and Ms. Moore noticed a change in Appellant after his mother married an individual named Beaufort Adams. (T1374, 1379) They noticed that after Mr. Adams came into Appellant's life, Appellant began to get into trouble and was led astray by Mr. Adams. (T1375, 1379)

Mr. Adams was absent periodically from the household due to obligations owed to the Tennessee penal system. (T1379) Due to Mr. Adams' periodic trips to the prison system and his otherwise irresponsible lifestyle, frequently it would be necessary for Mrs. Moore to retrieve her abandoned grandson from a former residence. (T1379) On other occasions, Brown's mother and Mr. Adams would sneak over to Mrs. Moore's house, snatch Appellant and disappear with the

child. (T1378)

Unfortunately, when Mr. Adams was with Paul Brown's mother, there was frequent fighting. As a result, Adams "kept her eyes black". (T1379) During this time, Paul's mother abused alcohol and used illicit drugs. Later, these problems culminated in the commission of murder which sent her to the Tennessee prison system. (T1380)

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant contests the applicability of the HAC and CCP aggravating factors. The trial court's conclusions regarding how the victim died is based on mere speculation. There was no eyewitness to the murder. Appellant attacked the victim as he lay in bed. The victim may have even been asleep. The stabbing was quick and unexpected. The victim had no defensive wounds and probably died in a matter of minutes. The victim may have been unconscious even before then. The victim did not endure the requisite prolonged suffering. The victim had been drinking and using drugs. Additionally, Appellant lacked the requisite intent to torture the victim.

Instructing the jury on this inapplicable aggravating factor (as well as the inappropriate CCP instruction) tainted the jury's recommendation.

In his attack on the "heightened premeditation" (CCP) aggravating factor, Appellant points out that the evidence supports the planning of a robbery, but not a murder. Discussion of killing Hensley began after the two co-defendants arrived at Hensley's apartment. The weapon used in the murder was obtained from the apartment's kitchen. The murder was a crime of opportunity and was not the product of a cool, calm reflection. Additionally, Appellant's mind was clouded with drink and drug.

Striking the two invalid aggravators (HAC and CCP) leaves only two valid aggravating factors. Appellant committed the murder for pecuniary gain and during the commission of a felony (which the trial court appropriately merged into one circumstance to avoid improper doubling). Appellant's prior violent felony conviction is for the crime of "assault with intent to commit armed robbery." When compared to the substantial prior records of the average capital defendant, Appellant's criminal history pales in comparison. The remaining valid aggravating factor is present in almost every capital murder considered by this Court. The two valid

aggravating factors in this case are not compelling.

Additionally, Appellant was a young man at the time of the murder. He came from a dysfunctional family and had an extremely troubled youth. He had a history of alcohol and drug abuse. There is also the possibility that Scott McGuire, the co-defendant in this case, was the actual "bad actor". Nevertheless, Appellant's crime is not the most aggravated, least mitigated first-degree murder. Death is disproportionate in this case.

Appellant also attacks the standard jury instruction regarding the jury's proper role in rendering its verdict at the penalty phase. Finally, Appellant also attacks the constitutionality of Florida's sentencing scheme.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Paul Anthony Brown discusses below the reasons which, he respectfully submits, compel the reversal of his convictions and death sentence. Each issue is predicated on Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, Article I, Sections 9, 16, 17, and 22 of the Florida Constitution, and such other authority as is set forth.

#### **POINT I**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY AND IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL.

#### A. Introduction.

In finding that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel, the trial court wrote:

The victim was stabbed multiple times and had his throat cut and bled to death. The victim was stabbed three times near the heart, two times in the shoulder area, two times in the stomach area, two times in the back, had his throat slashed, and had other cuts, lacerations, and abrasions. The victim was alive and conscious during the infliction of these knife wounds and it took two or three minutes for all of the wounds to be inflicted on the victim and after the last wound was inflicted, the victim lived another couple of minutes. The victim was laying in his bed when first attacked and the victim got off the bed in an attempt to avoid the attack and moved around the bedroom attempting to get away from the defendant. This aggravating circumstance was proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

(R109)

The state must prove two separate and distinct elements in order to uphold this particular aggravating factor:

(1) the defendant must have deliberately inflicted or chosen a method of death with the

intent to cause extraordinary mental or physical pain to the victim; and

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