### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL ANTHONY BROWN,

Appellant,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

CASE NO. 89,537

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE
(

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Point I: The trial court properly instructed the jury on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. The evidence overwhelmingly established that the instant crime met the HAC standard. The brutal multiple stabbing and cutting of the conscious victim, who tried repeatedly, but futilely, to get away from his attacker before drawing his last gasping breaths as he bled to death was not the clean, quick death which might avoid the HAC Neither was Appellant's intent in question. Clearly, he was coherent and well knew what he was doing. The trial judge properly found the HAC aggravator, and his order should be upheld. Point: The trial court properly instructed the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravator. The evidence established a careful plan or design which was the product of cool and calm reflection and was not done in a panic, frenzy, or fit of rage. Indeed, appellant's murder plan even included a backup plan in case the victim got away from him. Clearly, there was no pretense of moral or legal justification for this vicious murder. The trial judge properly found the CCP aggravator, and his order should be upheld.

**Poin III:** The death penalty imposed upon the appellant in this case is not disporportionate. When the aggravators and mitigators found in the instant case are compared to the same, or similiar ones found in other capital murder cases, it is clear that the death pealty is appropriate. Neither is the death penalty imposed

upon the appellant **rendered** disporportionate by the lesser penalty levied upon the much less culpable codefendant.

**Point IV**: The standard jury instructions have been approved by this Honorable Court and challenges to them have been repeatedly rejected. The standard instructions do not denigrate the jury's role in sentencing. Appellant is entitled to no relief on this claim.

Point: Florida Statutes § 921.141 is constitutional. The claims raised in this point have all been soundly rejected by this Honorable Court. Appellant has offered no good reason for reconsidering any of them. He is entitled to no relief.

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL AGGRAVATOR OR IN FINDING THAT AGGRAVATOR AT SENTENCING.

Brown misrepresents the standard for determining whether a crime was heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (IB at 13-14). In *Jimenez* v. *State*, No. 85,014, slip op. at 5 (Fla. Oct. 30, 1997), this Court articulated the HAC standard:

This factor applies to

torturous murders--those that evince extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified either by the desire to inflict **a** high degree of pain **or** utter indifference to **or** enjoyment of the suffering of another.

(emphasis added).

In Jimenez, this Court approved the trial court's finding of HAC. The basis therefor was as follows:

It is certainly reasonable to infer that during this brutal and torturous attack, after being stabbed in the neck, in the side, and several times in the chest and abdomen, that Ms. Minas must have been aware of what was happening to her, and must have known she was going to die. The killing was not done quickly or painlessly. She lingered at least ten minutes while she bled to death. She suffered in pain and fear, all the while feeling helpless and alone, knowing help was outside her door, but could not get in and she could not even call out to them.

Id.

In the instant case, the trial judge wrote:

The victim was stabbed multiple times and had his throat cut and bled to death. The victim

was stabbed three times near the heart, two times in the shoulder area, two times in the stomach area, two times in the back, had his slashed, and had other lacerations, and abrasions. The victim was alive and conscious during the infliction of these knife wounds and it took two or three minutes for all of the wounds to be inflicted on the victim and after the last wound was inflicted, the victim lived another couple of minutes. The victim was laying in his bed when first attacked and the victim got off the bed in an attempt to avoid the attack and moved around the bedroom attempting to get away from the defendant.

(R 109). The trial court applied the correct rule of law, and competent, substantial.evidence supports the court's finding that the murder was heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

In his brief, Brown "does not dispute . . . the number of stab wounds nor their locations," however, he contends that the state did not prove that the murder happened as recited by the trial court. (IB at 14). Brown concludes that because the victim's "body was found right next to the bed," it "in and of itself, refutes the trial court's fanciful theory." (R 16).

At trial, Brown's confession was introduced into evidence. Therein, Brown stated'that he went into the kitchen and got a knife. (R 761). He went into the victim's bedroom where the man was laying down. (R 761, 762). Brown stabbed Mr. Hensley in the chest two or three times. Mr. Hensley rolled away from him, and Brown stabbed the man in his back. Mr. Hensley rolled away again, and onto the floor. (R 762).

Codefendant McGuire testified that Brown got two knives from the kitchen. (R 867). Mr. Hensley was "laying down on his bed

with his eyes closed." (R 868). Brown went inside the bedroom. (R 869). Thereafter Mr. McGuire heard stabbing sounds coming from the room, and he heard Mr. Hensley cry "no"" (R 869). Mr. McGuire "heard a tumble on the floor . . . walked over to the doorway and saw [Mr. Hensley] on the floor, bloodied." (R 869).

State Witness Parker testified that Mr. Hensley's body was found "close to the entranceway to the bedroom." (R 1010). Mr. Parker said that the blood stain evidence indicated that the knife went into Mr. Hensley as he lay on his bed. (R 1024). This expert testified that Mr. Hensley moved around before falling down, losing consciousness, and expiring. (R 1026).

The Medical Examiner testified that Mr. Hensley had been stabbed nine or ten times. (R 1077). "[T]he victim was moving, during the time he was being stabbed." (R 1082). He was moving, "getting from one place to the other." (R 1087, 1088). The medical expert opined that Mr. Hensley "was alive and conscious when he was being stabbed to death." (R 1089).

The State contends that the evidence related above far exceeds

<sup>9</sup> 

Brown was running through the man's bedroom looking for the keys to his truck. . . . [H]e was throwing stuff around and asking where are the keys, where are the keys." (emphasis added) (R 870). Throughout this time, Mr. McGuire could hear Mr. Hensley making sounds "like he was struggling to breathe, gasping his last breaths." (R 871). Mr. Hensley was alive and conscious at this point.

<sup>10</sup> 

The doctor opined that the testimony "about Mr. Hensley lying on the floor, gasping for breath, and breathing heavily, was "certainly" consistent with the last few minutes of his life. (R 1088).

the competent substantial evidence standard. See Thompson v. State, 619 So.2d 261, 267 (Fla. 1993) [Substantial evidence establishing manner of murder is the standard]. It overwhelmingly establishes each fact found, and recited, by the trial judge in his subject order regarding HAC. Thus, there was no error in finding the HAC aggravator, much less in instructing the jury on it.

Further, there is no merit to the claim that because "[t]he attack . . . was sudden" and Mr. "Hensley's death was quick" he did not endure prolonged suffering and therefore the HAC factor was inappropriate. (IB at **16-17)**. Contrary to representations, Mr. Hensley was not killed without ever knowing he was about to die. He cried out "No" just after Brown's savage attack began, and he moved repeatedly, trying to avoid Brown's stabbing blows. Mr. Hensley was alive and conscious while he was being stabbed. Finally, as he lay gasping for breath on the floor of his bedroom with his blood pouring out of 9 or 10 stab wounds, Brown repeatedly asked him where the truck keys were. Certainly, Mr. Hensley knew he was about to die and suffered mightily for a time more than sufficient to meet the requirements of this aggravator.

The above-referenced evidence also refutes appellant counsel's fanciful claim that the victim "may have even been asleep at the time of the attack." (IB at 16). Neither was there any evidence to support his claim that Mr. Hensley's "mind was clouded from alcohol and drug use." (IB at 16-17). The evidence showed that the man had a single beer and shared a half of a marijuana

cigarette with the other men. He conversed rationally with them about several subjects including jobs, sleep arrangements, and sexual preference. Thus the evidence was clearly contrary to appellant counsel's subject claims.

Neither is there any merit to Brown's claim that HAC is not appropriate because there was no evidence that he intended to cause extraordinary suffering. The reasonable inferences from the foregoing evidence are to the contrary. Further, in Spencer v. State, 691 So.2d 1062, 1064 (Fla. 1996), this Court rejected a similar argument. There the defendant claimed that HAC did not apply "because his mental impairments negated any intent to inflict pain or suffering on the victim." This Court found "no merit to that argument." Id. Brown's is likewise deficient.

Further, even if the argument were valid, the record facts do not support it. The evidence indicated that Brown did not have any cocaine on the day of the murder and had had little alcohol to drink. (R 895-896). Brown appeared coherent and knew what he was doing when the murder occurred. (R 895-896). Thus, there is no evidentiary support for the claim that Brown's "borderline intellectual functioning coupled with daily use of crack cocaine, consumption of mass quantities of alcohol, and marijuana" significantly affected Brown's ability to form any intent necessary for the HAC factor.

Finally, an HAC instruction is properly given to a jury when there is competent substantial evidence to support it. The

evidence in this case, as recounted hereinabove, more than meets the applicable standard. The HAC aggravator was properly instructed upon and found, and the trial court's order in that regard should be upheld. However, assuming arguendo that the HAC instruction should not have been given, the error was harmless in light of the three remaining aggravators and the slight nonstatutory mitigation.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON, AND IN FINDING, THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER.

There are four elements which must be established in regard to the cold, calculated, and premeditated [hereinafter "CCP"] aggravator. They are that the murder was calculated which "consists of a careful plan or prearranged design" and:

(1) [T] he killing was the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage (cold); (2) the defendant exhibited heightened premeditation (premeditated); and (3) the defendant had no pretense of moral or legal justification.

Jackson v. State, No. 87,345, slip op. at 3, 4 (Fla. Nov. 6, 1997).

See Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied,

484 U.S. 1020, \_\_\_\_ S.Ct. \_\_\_, \_\_\_ L.Ed.2d \_\_\_\_ (1984).

In *Jackson*, this Court found the defendant's actions to be "cold." Id. At 4. Witnesses had testified "that before the struggle, Jackson appeared calm." Id. She calmly told "her story and cooperated with the officers," and she "was able to devise a plan to catch Officer Bevel off guard . . .. " Id.

Brown was likewise calm and cold. Brown had not done crack cocaine that day and had only had one beer and shared a half a joint of marijuana with McGuire and Mr. Hensley. (R 864-865, 895). Brown appeared "coherent" and to know "what was going on in that apartment on that evening when that murder occurred." (R 896).

Further, Brown had formed his plan to rob someone of a motor vehicle and to use a deadly weapon in so doing several days prior to the murder. He and McGuire acted on that plan by searching for the vehicle and pursuant to that plan, Brown found Mr. Hensley. Then, at Mr. Hensley's apartment, Brown devised and fine-tuned his final plan to kill Mr. Hensley and steal his truck. In accordance therewith, he coldly carried it out. Thus, the evidence of Brown's coldness exceeds that of Jackson and is more than adequate to support that element of the CCP aggravator.

In Jackson, the calculation element was established by evidence that "demonstrated that Jackson carefully planned the murder." Id. After observing the officer filling out his report, she went to the apartment and got a gun which she placed in her waistband. She went down to the officer's car and began looking through papers therein. When the officer attempted to arrest her, Jackson hit him in his vest, dropped her keys, and shot the officer in the head. All of the planning for this crime occurred after the officer arrived at the scene and after it became apparent to Jackson that she would be arrested for filing a false police report.

In the instant case, the evidence of a calculated plan to murder Mr. Hensley is even greater than that in *Jackson*. In October, 1992, Brown told his roommate, Mr. McGuire, of his plan "to steal someone's car using a gun . . . " which Brown possessed. (R 857). He and Mr. McGuire discussed going to a gay bar, finding a man who owned a suitable car, and killing him for the vehicle.

(R 760). On the night of the murder, Brown and McGuire "were walking around all night . . . looking for a car." (R 858). Brown "met someone and motioned for me [McGuire] to step over to the vehicle . . . a truck . . . " near a gay bar. (R 858, 859). Inside the truck, Brown held his gun "between the back of the seat and the back of the truck, behind the driver [Mr. Hensley]." (R 861).

The men drove around for "a good 20 minutes to a half hour," while Brown led Mr. Hensley on a wild goose chase allegedly looking for his motel. (R 861, 862). When Mr. Hensley tired of this, he took the men to his residence. (R 862, 863). As they walked up the walk, "Brown said to me [McGuire] in a hushed voice . . . how would like to do it? . . ." (R 863).

Inside unit 223, Mr. Hensley and the men conversed for about 45 minutes about various subjects. Mr. Hensley invited the men to sleep at his apartment and went to his bedroom and laid down. (R 865-866). McGuire testified that "Brown started to say something, and then he motioned for us to step out on the . . . small balcony behind a closed sliding glass door." (R 866). Brown said that "he intended to shoot this man and steal his truck." (R 866). McGuire "tried to talk him out of shooting him," pointing out "the gun will make a loud noise . , , and the police will be here." (R 866). McGuire tried to get Brown to leave. (R 866-867). Brown became upset with McGuire and "walked away from me and went back inside." (R 867).

McGuire went back inside and announced his intention to leave. (R 867). Brown went into the kitchen, and when he returned "he had

in his hand two steak knives, and he tried to hand me one of them."

(R 867). McGuire threw it to the floor, throwing up his hands, stating: "I don't want no part of what you got on your mind." (R 868). "It was obvious that he wanted to kill this guy for his truck." (R 868). Again, Brown became angry with Mr. McGuire, and "in a very whispered level," he said "that he didn't need my assistance, that he could take care of this gentleman by himself."

(R 868). Brown "made a motion with his hand across his throat like he intended to kill him." (R 869).

Mr. McGuire could see Mr. Hensley "laying down on his bed with his eyes closed." (R 868). Brown told him "if he gets out of the room, not to let him get to the door." (R 869). McGuire responded "that he was on his own," and "walked away and went back and sat down on the couch. And Mr. Brown went into the man's bedroom." (R 869).

From the couch, Mr. McGuire heard Brown carry out his grisly plan to stab Mr. Hensley to death and thereafter steal his truck.

(R 869-874). After collecting their personal belongings, the men left the state in Mr. Hensley's truck, just as Brown had planned.

(R 875). The evidence of a careful plan to murder far exceeded that in Jackson and is more than sufficient to support that element of the CCP aggravator.<sup>11</sup>

<sup>11</sup> 

In his brief, Brown is less than candid with this Honorable Court when he argues that the murder was not a part of the robbery plan which Brown and McGuire made earlier in the day, but was merely "a spur of the moment' idea that the pair began discussing only minutes before the crime." (IB at 28). According to Brown in his confession, the plan discussed by the two men prior to commencing

Regarding heightened premeditation, this Court in **Jackson** said:

Jackson, as indicated by her decision to go upstairs and retrieve a gun, made a deliberate and conscious choice to shoot Officer Bevel. Jackson could have left the scene, but instead she purposely returned to confront the officer.

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